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Located 16 miles west of Decatur, Alabama, on Alabama 20, the Joseph Wheeler
Plantation retains much of the atmosphere of postbellum southern plantation life.
Moreover, the property contains residences representative of three 19th Century
building styles. At one time Wheeler's holdings included 18,000 adjacent acres,
most of which is owned presently by his heirs, but the historic buildings rest on
a 100-acre tract. Oak, dogwood, redbud, Japanese cherry, crepe myrtle, and cedar

trees from a grove around the manmade structures, and wisteria vines and English
boxwoods grow in abundance.

The Log House. John P. Hickman settled first on the property and erected this
one-room house of hewn logs about 1818. Shortly afterward he added a second room
and a dogtrot. The house has a shaked roof and board floors, and each room contains
an end fireplace and one shuttered, 15-over-15 sash window. Thought to be one of the
earliest log houses in northern Alabama, the structure is in good condition.

The Log and Weatherboard House. Possibly as early as 1820, Hickman built this
gable-rooted, rectangular-shaped, two-story log and weatherboard house immediately
north of the first dwelling. The white-painted newer residence has a two tiered
central porch, five bay front, 12-over-12 sash windows flanked by green louvered
shutters, and two end chimneys that serve fireplaces on both floors. Entrance to
the house is through double, paneled doors graced by side and transom lights.
Apparently the central hall and U-shaped stairway divided the house initially into
two wings of two rooms each, but several irregular single-story additions were
made to the rear during the late 19th Century. A modern kithcen was attahced more
recently to the west end of the structure. The oldest portion of the house contains
much original flooring and woodwork and some period furniture. At present two care-
takers occupy the well-preserved dwelling.

The Frame House. Ownership of the Hickman property passed eventually to Col.
Richard Jones, and Wheeler acquired it about 1870, after he and Daniella returned
to Lawrence County from New Orleans. The Wheelers erected this two and a half story,
white, frame house sometime prior to 1885, but the exact date of construction is
not known. One of Wheeler's biographers proposes 1870 as the most likely time,
while the recollections of Annie E. Wheeler, the general's daughter, suggests the
period 1880-1884. Whatever the case, the structure stands only a few feet east of
the log and weatherboard house, and the two buildings are comnected by a covered
walkway.

The frame house is little altered and in good condition. Weatherboarded and
rectangular shaped, it is five bays wide at the front and rear and five bays wide
at the sides. It sits on a stone foundation, and three red brick interior chimneys
pierce the metal-covered, gabled roof. On the first two stories green louvered
shutters border six-over-six sash windows. A front-balustraded, one-story veranda
extends across the face of the house, and a two-tiered veranda spans the rear. Of
particular interest are the six pairs of scroll-bracketed two-by-fours that support
the front veranda. Also noteworthy is the balustraded, single-flight servant's
stairway that connects the two levels of the rear porch. Except for evidences of
modern plumbing, addition of a concrete floor to the lower portion of the rear veranda,
and enclosure of the upper tier of that porch with screening, the exterior exhibits
few changes.
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Double, paneled doors flanked by side and transom lights lead into both ends of
a central hallway that is approximately 15 feet wide and 40 feet long. This passageway
divides four 20-foot-square rooms into two wings. On the right are a bedroom and
dining room, and on the left are two parlors. Entrance into the front sitting room
and passage from it into the rear parlor is by large four-part folding doors. A
single-flight stair leads from the hall to the second floor, which contains a central
corridor and four bedrooms. An enclosed stairway provides access to the unfinished
half story.

Samll baths were built into four of the rooms about 1906, and more recently a
furnace was installed in the first-floor hall. No other notable internal alterations
have been made, however. Almost all of Wheeler's furniture remains in the house,
along with his military uniforms and the family china and silverware. Original
handmade curtains hang in the front parlor, and numerous portraits and photographs
of the general adorn the white plaster walls.

Outbuildings. Located in close proximity to the three residences are six out-
buildings erected during Wheeler's lifetime and one newer structure that covers a
water well and pump. The older buildings include a gable-roofed, frame two and a
half story cotton warehouse; a rectangular-shaped log barn with hay loft and tin
gabled roof; a vertically boarded barn of similar design; the original frame well-
house; a frame woodhouse; and hewn-log icehouse. Except for the latter structure,
all are in poor condition. The relative position of all these buildings are indicated
on the accompanying sketch map.

Cemetery. The Wheeler family cemetery is located at the rear of the property.
Although Joseph Wheeler's remains lie in Arlington National Cemetery, the family
plot contains an impressive spire monument to his memory.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The General Joseph Wheeler Plantation, which is primarily significant for its
associations with General Joseph Wheeler, retains much of its 19th Century plantation
ambience and appearance and contains three structures representative of three generations
of plantation life in 19th Century Alabama. The three main structures include: a
one-story log house constructed around 1818 by the Hickman family which homesteaded the
plantation; a two-story log and clapboard home constructed as the family's permanent
residence during the 1820's; and a two and a half story frame home which was built
by Wheeler during the latter portion of the 19th Century and served both as the center
of his large and prosperous plantation and as his home until his death in 1906.

Joseph Wheeler symbolizes restoration of white rule in the postbellum South and
political reconciliation between that section and the North. A renowned cavalry officer
in the Confederate Army, Wheeler became an Alabama planter after the Civil War, and
beginning in 1884 he won eight successive elections to the U.S. House of Representatives.
Like many other so-called Bourbon Democrats, he maintained a paternal attitude toward
blacks, opposed civil rights legislation, and called upon southerners to forget the
Wheeler never became a powerful
figure in Congress, but his intelligent speeches on a variety of subjects made him one

war and devote their energy to industrialization.

of the best known men in Washington.

resumed his military career.

a major general of volunteers.

Joseph Wheeler was born September 10, 1836, in Augusta, Georgia.

In 1898, while still a member of the House, he

To erase the last vestiges of sectionalism and make the
Spanish-American War a national effort, President William McKinley appointed Wheeler
He became the only corps commander in U.S. military

history who had held a similar position in the Confederacy.

Educated at

Cheshire in Connecticut, he was appointed to West Point by a New York congressman. He
graduated in 1859 and served in the Cavalry in Kansas and New Mexico, where he earned
When Georgia left the Union in January 1861, Wheeler
resigned his commission and served briefly as a lieutenant in Georgia's forces then
secured an appointment as a colonel in the Confederate Army.

the nickname, '""Fightin' Joe'.

Placed in command of the 19th-Alabama Infantry, Wheeler trained his regiment expertly

and led it through the bloody Battle of Shiloh in April, 1862.

He served thereafter as

cavalry chief for the Army of Tennessee and rose eventually to lieutenant general.
Wheeler led his cavalrymen effectively on countless reconnaissance assignments and

forays against Union supply lines.

After Johnston surrendered the Army of Tennessee

on April 26, 1865, Wheeler kept his men in the field and attempted unsuccessfully to
reach Confederate President Jefferson Davis and prevent his capture.
soldiers apprehended both Davis's presidential party and Wheeler's skeleton command.

In May, Federal
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After two months in a U.S. Army prison, Wheeler returned to war-torn Georgia to
begin a new life. He found no suitable opportunity in his native Augusta, though, and
in 1866 traveled to Courtland,Alabama and married Daniella Jones Sherrod, a young widow.
After residing for four years in New Orleans, where Wheeler bought a partnership in a
hardware and carriage firm, the couple returned to Daniella's father's plantation in
Lawrence County, Alabama. Soon Wheeler became a successful planter, and in his spare
time he studied law and passed the bar exam. By 1880, he had assumed a position as
attorney for the East Tennessee, Virginia, and Georgia Railroad Company.

In 1880 with the backing of northern Alabama's Democratic leadership, Wheeler was
elected to Congress. The election, however, was contested by his opponent, William H.
Lowe, an Independent running with the endorsement of Republicans and Greenbackers, and
after 10 months in the National Capital, Wheeler was unseated.

When Lowe died before completing his term, Wheeler won a special election, returned
to Washington in January of 1883. 1In 1884, he received little opposition in his bid
for a seat in the 49th Congress and during the next 14 years he won re-election seven
consecutive times. Wheeler overmade his opponents partly by accommodating the personal
political needs of northern Alabama voters and partly by pursuing a middle course between
Bourbonism and Populism. Wheeler was widely recognized for his sprightly manner and
his ability to speak intelligently on a variety of subjects, and was one of the best
known figures in Washington.

When hostilities with Spain seemed imminent early in 1898, he offered his services
to the War Department. On April 25, 1898, Congress issued a declaration of war, and the
following day President William McKinley summoned Wheeler to the White House. To heal
sectional differences, make the war truly a national effort, and gain support for his
administration, the President planned to extend military commissions to several ex-
confederate offlcers He gave the first and highest of these positions, major general
of volunteers, to Wheeler. Subsequently, the War Department assigned him to command
the cavalry in the impending expedition to Cuba. Wheeler served with distinction during
the War and later was appointed head of the 4th Army Corps, gaining the distinction of
being the only corps commander in U.S. history who had held a similar position in the
Confederacy. In 1899, Wheeler saw duty briefly in the Philippines, and a year later he
retired. He devoted most of the final five years of his life to travel and social
activities and died in Brooklyn, New York, in 1906.

The plantation has remained in the hands of the Wheeler family and was managed by
his daughter, Miss Annie Wheeler, until 1955, who served as a nurse in the Spanish-
American War, the Philippine conflict, and the first World War. At her death, the
plantation has been maintained by heirs who keep it open to the public for tours.
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